## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JAMES RICHARD CONNERS, JR.	APPELLANT
v.	NO. 2011-KA-0406-SCT
STATE OF MISSISSIPPI	APPELLEE
BRIEF OF THE AP	PELLANT

OFFICE OF STATE PUBLIC DEFENDER
Indigent Appeals Division
Mollie M. McMillin, MS Bar No.
Post Office Box 3510
Jackson, Mississippi 39207-3510
Telephone: 601-576-4290

Counsel for James Richard Conners, Jr.

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JAMES RICHARD CONNERS, JR.

**APPELLANT** 

V.

NO. 2011-KA-0406-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Issue One: Connors's Constitutional Right to Confrontation was violated by the admission into evidence of two forensic reports prepared by forensic scientists but introduced into evidence through a sheriff's department investigator.

Issue Two: James Richard Connors, Jr., received constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel at trial, evidenced by his attorney's failure to object to the State's introduction of forensic evidence through a sheriff's department investigator, failure to object to highly prejudicial information regarding Connors's past criminal activity and gang affiliation, and failure to object to gruesome, prejudicial, and cumulative photographs of the victims.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

James Connors, Jr., was indicted by a Pike County Grand Jury on September 1, 2010, for two counts of murder in the deaths of his brother, Kenneth Connors (Kenneth) and sister-in-law, Sandra Connors (Sandra). (C.P. 4-7, R.E.1-4). The indictment also charged Connors with two counts of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon and one count of possession of stolen property related to a motorcycle found at his home. (C.P. 4-7, R.E. 1-4).

A jury found Connors guilty of both counts of murder and both counts of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (C.P. 68, R.E 6). The trial court granted a directed verdict on the

possession of stolen property charge. (C.P. 67). The trial court sentenced Connors to two life sentences for the murder convictions and two ten-year sentences for the firearms charges, all to be served consecutively. (T. 587, C.P. 81-82, R.E 15-16). Further, Connors was charged with court costs of \$1217.00. (T. 587, C.P. 81-82, R.E. 15-16).

Connors is currently in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. Connors filed a motion for JNOV or, alternatively, for a new trial, which the trial court denied. (C.P. 77, 89, R.E. 11). Connors timely filed his notice of appeal on March 15, 2011. (C.P. 83).

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Sheriff's deputies were called to the Connors home after Sandra's granddaughter was unable to contact Sandra for a couple of days. (T. 227). Deputy Mike Milholen of the Pike County Sheriff's Department testified that he arrived at the Connors's home on January 22, 2010, after receiving a call for a "welfare concern." (T. 227). Deputy Milholen knocked on the door of the home to no response. (T. 228). Deputy Milholen testified that the only noise he heard from the inside of the trailer was a television on the back side of the trailer. (T. 228). The door to the trailer was locked. (T. 228). Deputy Milholen was able to find an unlocked window, which he opened and looked through. (T. 228). From that window, Deputy Milholen could see a body in the living room, just in front of the front door. (T. 228). Deputy Milholen closed the window and waited on investigators to arrive. (T. 228).

Jackie Young, who lives approximately fifty to seventy yards from the Connors home, testified that on January 20, 2010, she heard four gunshots. (T. 236). Young testified that the shots came from the direction of the Connors home and came in quick succession. (T. 236). She did *not* hear a single shot before hearing the four shots together. (T. 236). Young heard the shots at

around 4:30 or 5:00 in the afternoon while she was sitting on her front porch. (T. 236). Young did not hear anything unusual before or after the shots were fired, and she testified that after hearing the shots, she put her cigarette out and "went out." (T. 236).

On cross-examination, Young testified that she could see the Connors home from her porch. (T. 241). Despite her vantage point, she did not see anything unusual at the home when the shots were fired. (T. 241).

Elizabeth Bowen, who also lived near the Connors home, testified that she was able to see from inside her home that Kenneth checked his mailbox on the morning of Wednesday, January 20, 2010, at around 10:30 or 11:00 a.m. (T. 249). At around 5:00 the same evening, Bowen heard four gunshots. (T. 249). Bowen thought nothing of the shots, assuming "the boy called T" was hunting. (T. 249). She did not hear or see anything out of the ordinary before or after she heard the gunshots. (T. 249). Bowen testified that she tried to reach Sandra by phone several times on Thursday and Friday, but got no answer. (T. 250-51).

Jennifer Brooks testified that she did not know Kenneth and Sandra, but she was asked by Sandra's granddaughter, who lived in Houma, Louisiana, to check on Sandra. (T. 255). Brooks lived close to the Connors home. (T. 255). Brooks knocked on the trailer and called out for Sandra, but never heard anything from inside the home other than the dog barking. (T. 258). Brooks did not go onto the porch of the trailer or try the front door. (T. 258). Brooks then contacted Sandra's granddaughter, Kathleen, and told her that there was a van at the trailer, but she was unable to get an answer after knocking and calling for Sandra. (T. 259). She offered to call the police, but Kathleen stated that she would drive up there herself. (T. 259).

Kathleen Theriot, Sandra's granddaughter, testified that she spoke with Sandra around 9:00 a.m. on Wednesday, January 20th. (T. 273). Sandra asked if she could call Kathleen later, and

Kathleen never heard back from her grandmother. (T. 274). Kathleen tried to reach Sandra by telephone several times Wednesday, Thursday, and Friday. (T. 274). After hearing from Brooks that there was no answer at the trailer, Kathleen decided to drive up with her husband and uncle to check on them. (T. 275-76).

When they arrived at the Connors home, Kathleen took a set of keys out of the RV parked on the property because they usually kept a key to the trailer with that set of keys. (T. 277). Kathleen gave the keys to her uncle to begin trying to unlock the door, and Kathleen proceed to knock on the trailer and try to look into the windows. (T. 276-77, 286). Kathleen testified that she could hear a television which was turned up to a high volume coming from the area of James Connors's room. (T. 278). Kathleen testified that she could hear footsteps inside the trailer and the dog barking. (T. 277). They decided at that point to call police. (T. 277).

Chief Detective Davis Haygood of the Pike County Sheriff's Department testified that he was called to investigate after Deputy Milholen discovered a body in the trailer. (T. 297). Detective Haygood testified that none of the other officers had entered the trailer prior to his arrival at the scene. (T. 297). Because the door was locked, the investigators decided to force the door open by kicking it. (T. 297).

When they entered the home, investigators found Kenneth's body face down. (T. 300, Ex. 10). The position of Kenneth's body led Detective Haygood to conclude that Kenneth's body had been moved from another location. (T. 300). Investigator Haygood believed that Kenneth was shot on the front porch of the trailer and then dragged back into the home. (T. 306).

Sandra's body was found in the kitchen of the home, approximately six feet away from Kenneth's body. (T. 309). Sandra had sustained a single gunshot wound to her back. (T. 309). A Mossberg 12-gauge shotgun was found on a table in the front room of the trailer, along with an

empty 12-gauge shell casing. (T. 307).

Investigators collected some clothing from James Connors's bedroom which investigator Haygood testified were damp. (T. 323-24). They also found a stain that appeared to be blood on the door leading into the defendant's bedroom. (T. 324). That stain was later determined to be Kenneth's blood. (T. 324). Detective Haygood also testified regarding the Mississippi Crime Laboratory's analysis of the shotgun shells found at the scene. According to Haygood's interpretation of the crime lab's report, the spent shell casings and the pellets recovered from the victim's bodies were consistent with being fired from a 12-gauge shotgun, but could not be conclusively tied to the 12-gauge shotgun found at the scene. (T. 343, State's Exs. 96, 97). Haygood also testified regarding the firearms analyst's determination that the 12-gauge shotgun found at in the trailer was a functioning weapon. (T. 363, State's Ex. 99). The firearms analyst who prepared the reports did not testify at trial.

Detective Haygood also testified regarding the results of the crime lab's toxicology report on the blood taken from Connors. (T. 367). According to Haygood's reading of the report, Connors's blood tested positive for caffeine, oxycodone, and opiate metabolites when he was found in the trailer. (T. 367). Notably, the toxicologist who performed the analysis of Connors's blood did not testify at trial.

When Connors was released from the hospital on January 26th, a deputy picked him up and took him to the sheriff's department for questioning. (T. 344). Haygood and another officer questioned Connors, and the interview was recorded. (T. 345, State's Ex. 84). The interview lasted approximately three hours, and the entire video was played at trial for the jury. (T. 345-46). Connors made repeated references in the interview to his criminal history and his membership in the Bandidos Motorcycle Club. (State's Ex. 84). Connors's defense attorney did not object to these

portions of the statement being played for the jury.

Dr. James W. Rawlins, a professor at the University of Southern Mississippi, testified that he analyzed the gunshot-residue samples taken from James Connors. (T. 431). According to Rawlins, he identified several particles in the samples, including aluminum, potassium, silicon, chlorine, sulfur, and calcium. (T. 431). Rawlins testified that the findings were consistent with gunshot residue, but that other sources for the particles could not be excluded. (T. 432, State's Ex. 101). Rawlins also testified that the three major primer elements – lead, barium, and antimony – which are usually all three present in gunshot residue, were not detected in the samples taken from the defendant. (T. 433, State's Ex. 101).

Kathryn Moyse, a DNA analyst with Scales Biolab in Brandon, Mississippi, testified for the State regarding evidence found at the scene. Moyse testified that she did not find blood stains to analyze on the clothing taken from the defendant's bedroom. (T. 445-46). Moyse determined that the blood sample taken from the defendant's bedroom door came from Kenneth. (T. 448). However, she was not able to obtain a DNA profile from the blood found on the gloves and rags officers took from a kitchen garbage can. (T. 448). Lastly, Moyse testified that she was able to obtain DNA from the handle and trigger of the shotgun police took from the scene. (T. 450-51). However, Moyse testified that the sample was mixed, meaning it came from more than one person. (T. 451). Therefore, she was unable to match the DNA profile to any individual, although she did testify that she could not exclude the defendant as being one of the donors of the DNA. (T. 451).

Investigator Bruce Fairburn testified that he was at the scene when Kenneth and Sandra's bodies were found. (T. 456). Fairburn observed the defendant lying in his bedroom watching television when investigators arrived. (T. 457). According to Fairburn, Connors explained to the investigators that he was disabled as a result of several motorcycle accidents. (T. 458). Further,

Fairburn testified that Connors admitted to being a former member of the Bandidos Motorcycle Club, and his membership had caused him to be shot several times over the years. (T. 458). Connors additionally told Fairburn that there was a handgun in the drawer of his nightstand. (T. 458). Fairburn found the weapon, made sure it was safe, then returned it to the drawer so it could be photographed later. (T. 458). The gun was a Smith & Wesson semi-automatic 9-millimeter handgun. (T. 459).

Fairburn stated that there was no evidence of a disturbance in the defendant's room. (T. 459). Further, there was a pet Chihuahua living in the home who appeared to be cared for. (T. 461). Fairburn testified that the dog had food and water, as well as a dog bone, and had not had any accidents in the home. (T. 461).

According to the statement he gave to sheriff's deputies, Connors awoke to police officers standing over his bed in the home he shared with his brother and sister-in-law in the early evening hours of January 22, 2010. (State's Exhibit 84). Connors informed the officers that he had been in a drug-induced sleep since two days earlier, when drug dealers from New Orleans came to the home and killed his brother and sister-in-law. (*Id.*). Connors informed police officers that the men then assaulted him with the butt of a shotgun and forced crushed-up pills down his throat, causing him to pass out until officers arrived two days later. (*Id.*).

Dr. Thomas Deering testified at trial that he performed the autopsies on Kenneth and Sandra Connors. (T. 477). Dr. Deering stated that Sandra's cause of death was a gunshot wound to the back. (T. 481). Dr. Deering testified that Kenneth's cause of death was multiple shotgun wounds. (T. 489). Dr. Deering was unable to determine the exact number of shotgun wounds Kenneth received, but estimated that there were at least four separate shotgun wounds, and possibly a fifth. (T. 489).

The defense called Dr. Olukunle Ajagbe, a doctor at Southwest Mississippi Regional Medical Center in McComb to testify. (T. 506). Dr. Ajagbe testified that he treated James Connors in the early morning hours of January 23, 2010. (T. 507, 522). Connors arrived at the hospital with low blood pressure and kidney failure. (T. 508). Dr. Ajagbe sent Connors to the ICU. (T. 508). In addition to the kidney failure and low blood pressure, Dr. Ajagbe noticed some pancreatitis after as well as some pneumonia looking at Connors's CAT scans. (T. 508). Connors informed Dr. Ajagbe that he had been hit in the chest with the butt of the shotgun and that he had also been hit in the head. (T. 509). Dr. Ajagbe testified that he did not identify any bruises on Connors's chest, but suggested that bruising may have been obscured by Connors's many chest tattoos. (T. 509).

The defense rested following Dr. Ajagbe's testimony. (T. 505). Connors did not testify at trial. The defense and the State stipulated that Connors was a prior convicted felon. (C.P. 47, T. 505). Further, the trial court granted Connors a directed verdict of not guilty on Count IV of the indictment, possession of stolen property. (T. 527, C.P. 67). The other charges were submitted to the jury for deliberations. (T. 579).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

James Connors's right to confront the witnesses against him was violated when the State presented forensic evidence through a sheriff's department investigator. The investigator did not prepare the forensic reports and was not qualified through voir dire to offer that type of scientific evidence. Because the evidence was presented through a sheriff's investigator rather than the forensic analysts themselves, Connors was unable to cross-examine the analysts regarding the methods used to reach the conclusions, the chain of custody of the evidence analyzed, or the education and qualifications of the analysts to make those determinations. The admission of this evidence, while not objected to, constitutes plain error.

Secondly, Connors received Constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel. Connors's trial counsel failed to object to the admission of the forensic reports through the sheriff's investigator, failed to object to gruesome crime scene photographs, and failed to object to evidence of Connors's prior motorcycle gang affiliation and prior criminal history, especially since trial counsel agreed to a stipulation regarding Connors's prior criminal convictions.

## **ARGUMENTS**

ISSUE ONE: CONNORS'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION WAS VIOLATED BY THE ADMISSION INTO EVIDENCE OF TWO FORENSIC REPORTS PREPARED BY FORENSIC SCIENTISTS BUT INTRODUCED INTO EVIDENCE THROUGH A SHERIFF'S DEPUTY.

#### i. Standard of Review

The standard of review for the admission of evidence is abuse of discretion. *Smith v. State*, 839 So. 2d 489, 494 (Miss. 2003)(citing *Farris v. State*, 764 So. 2d 411, 428 (Miss. 2000)). However, when a question of law is raised, the applicable standard of review is de novo. *Biglane v. Under the Hill Corp.*, 949 So. 2d 9, 14 (Miss. 2007)(citing *Cummings v. Benderman*, 681 So. 2d 97, 100 (Miss. 1996)).

Although Connors failed to raise an objection to the admission of the forensic reports at trial, this Court may review the errors under the plain-error doctrine because it affects a fundamental right. This Court explained the plain-error doctrine in *Smith v. State*, 986 So. 2d 290, 294 (¶10) (Miss. 2008), stating:

Under the plain-error doctrine, we can recognize obvious error which was not properly raised by the defendant on appeal, and which affects a defendant's "fundamental, substantive right." See Debrow v. State, 972 So. 2d 550 (Miss.2007) (recognizing as plain error that the admission of evidence of defendant's blood alcohol content was in violation of his Sixth Amendment right to confrontation); Sanders v. State, 678 So.2d 663, 670 (Miss.1996) (quoting Gray v. State, 549 So.2d 1316, 1321 (Miss.1989) ("It has been established that where fundamental rights are violated, procedural rules give way to prevent a miscarriage of justice")). Plain-error

review is properly utilized for "correcting obvious instances of injustice or misapplied law." *Newport v. Fact Concerts*, 453 U.S. 247, 256, 101 S.Ct. 2748, 69 L.Ed.2d 616 (1981).

Id. This Court also held in Smith that "a violation of the Confrontation Clause is a violation of a 'fundamental, substantive right.'" Smith, 986 So. 2d at 294. Therefore, this Court should review the violation of Connors's rights under the Confrontation Clause under the plain error doctrine.

## ii. Connors has a constitutional right to confront the witnesses against him.

Part of the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution, the Confrontation Clause provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right... to be confronted with the witnesses against him." U.S. Const Amend. VI. Due to its incorporation via the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, this procedural right applies to both federal and state prosecutions. *See Pointer v. Texas*, 380 U.S. 400 (1965). The right to confrontation is an essential right of criminal defendants, noted by the United States Supreme Court as a "bedrock constitutional guarantee." *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 42 (2004).

# iii. The information contained in the crime lab's reports is testimonial in nature and should not have been admitted through the sheriff's deputy.

At trial, the State offered State's Exhibits 96, 97 and 99 through Detective Haygood. Exhibit 97 is a report from the Mississippi Crime Laboratory Firearms/Toolmarks section. That report lists the items that were received by the lab and an explanation that the detectives wanted a determination of whether the cartridges submitted were fired from the gun submitted with the evidence. Rather than call Carl Fullilove, the forensic scientist who signed off on the report, and have him be subject to cross-examination, the State introduced the report into evidence through Detective Haygood's testimony. Fullilove's report summarized the results of the analysis as follows:

The shotgun shells in Submissions 30 through 34 bear some similarities in class characteristics consistent with those produced by the gun in Submission 24.

However, the shotgun shells in Submissions 30 through 34 could not be positively included or excluded as having been fired in the gun in Submission 24 to the exclusion of all other firearms bearing the same class characteristics.

(State's Exhibit 97, T. 343).

State's Exhibit 96 summarizes Fullilove's analysis of the shotgun pellets and his finding that all of the shotgun pellets and wadding were consistent with being fired from a 12-gauge shotgun. (T. 343, State's Exhibit 96). State's Exhibit 99, also prepared by Fullilove, states that the 9mm pistol taken from the trailer had been fired and checked for safety. According to Detective Haygood's interpretation of Fullilove's analysis, the report states that the 9mm pistol was a functioning weapon. (T. 363).

In addition to the firearms analyst's reports, the State also introduced a toxicology report prepared by Alyssa Pursell, a forensic scientist at the Mississippi Crime Lab, through Detective Haygood. (T. 367, State's Ex. 103). Again, rather than have the scientist who performed the analysis and prepared the report introduce the evidence, the State used the Detective to read it into evidence. (T. 367). Pursell's report stated that James Connors had oxycodone and opiate metabolite in his system when he was taken from the trailer to the hospital. (State's Exhibit 103).

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