IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JAMES RICHARD CONNERS, JR.

VS.

APPELLANT

NO. 2011-KA-0406-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NOTION

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

"A trial judge will not be found in error on a matter not presented to him for decision." Drummond v. State, 33 So.3d 507, 512 (¶16) (Ct.App.Miss. 2009).

Miss.R.Evid. 103(a)(1) reads, in part, as follows: "Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected, and (1), , , [i]n case the ruling is one admitting evidence, a timely objection or motion to strike appears of record, stating the specific ground of objection, if the specific ground was not apparent from the context .

. ."

There was no objection, contemporaneous or otherwise, either before or during trial, to the specific matters complained about on appeal for the first time. Accordingly, these issues are procedurally barred. Williams v. State, 971 So.2d 581, 590 (Miss. 2007).

In any event, admission into evidence of the forensic reports complained about could not have contributed one whit to Connors's convictions and was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See* Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967), reh den 17 L.Ed.2d 705.

Effectiveness of Trial Counsel.

In order for an appellate court to reverse a conviction on appeal, there must be a "reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different." **Chamberlin v. State,** 55 So.3d 1046, 1050 (¶5) (Miss. 2010), quoting **Mohr v. State,** 584 So.2d 426, 430 (Miss. 1991).

The evidence of Connors's guilt was overwhelming despite its mixture as both direct and circumstantial. It simply cannot be said that "... the outcome in this case would have been different" if Conners's two lawyers had objected at trial.

In any event, appellate review of counsels's performance must await review in a postconviction environment. no - See mark 27 (b) and.

Plain Error. The plain error rule which, in our opinion, essentially eviscerates any need or requirement for a contemporaneous objection to evidence, is inapplicable here because there was no actual error.

Even if otherwise, the error was neither "plain," "clear," nor "obvious."

Although no objection was made at trial, no error actually affecting the defendant's substantive/fundament right to confrontation of the witnesses against him was committed by counsel.

The matters presented, being unobjected to, are procedurally barred and do not rise to the level of plain error.

Harmless Error. Assuming, arguendo, there is "plain error," it was clearly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the evidence preponderates very heavily in favor of the guilty verdict.

Admission into evidence of the forensic reports complained about, whether testimonial or not, was clearly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the conclusions reached were just as consistent with innocence as guilt. Any error could not have contributed one whit to the defendant's conviction. *See* **Chapman v. California**, *supra*, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct.824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967), reh den 17 L.Ed.2d 705.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE.

THERE WAS NO OBJECTION DURING TRIAL, CONTEMPORANEOUS OR OTHERWISE, TO THE TWO FORENSIC REPORTS AND TESTIMONY COMPLAINED ABOUT FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

ACCORDINGLY, CONNERS IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RAISING THESE MATTERS AT THIS BELATED HOUR. STATED DIFFERENTLY, HE HAS WAIVED AND/OR FORFEITED HIS RIGHT TO HAVE THESE ISSUES CONSIDERED ON APPEAL.

THE PLAIN ERROR RULE IS INAPPLICABLE HERE BECAUSE ANY ERROR WAS NOT "PLAIN." ASSUMING OTHERWISE, IT WAS HARMLESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

Conners argues for the first time that his fundamental constitutional right to confront the

witnesses against him was violated by the reading into evidence of the results of certain firearm

analyst's reports and a toxicology report prepared by non-testifying forensic experts but introduced

into evidence through the testimony of a sheriff's deputy.

The specific targets of Conners's complaint are (1) reports of a firearm's analyst concluding that the shotgun shells found at the scene and the shotgun pellets recovered from the bodies of the two victims bore similar class characteristics consistent with those produced by the 12- gauge shotgun found on a table inside the front room of the mobile home, and (2) a toxicology report concluding that Connors had oxycodone and opiate metabolite in his system the day he was taken from the mobile home and hospitalized.

Conners argues these reports were testimonial in nature, and by virtue of Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, _____ U.S. _____, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004), could only have been introduced through the analysts who actually conducted the tests. He seeks reversal of his convictions and sentences and a remand for a new trial. (Brief of Appellant at 12, 19)

We decline to address the merits of these complaints because there was no objection, contemporaneous or otherwise, to any of the reports and testimony complained about for the first time here and now. These grounds of objection could, and should, have been raised then and there. Conners is barred from raising them for the first time on appeal. Besides, Conners was hopelessly guilty.

Procedural Bar. The Contemporaneous Objection Rule.

The problem with all of these arguments, as Conners is well aware, is that none of this evidence and testimony generated an objection, contemporaneous or otherwise - not even a whimper. Rather, these matters and occurrences are complained about for the first time on appeal.

It has been said time and again that the failure to make a timely objection to an issue at trial waives consideration of the issue on appeal. **Keys v. State**, 33 So.3d 1143, 1149-50 (¶22) (Ct.App.Miss. 2009), citing **Bogan v. State**, 754 So.2d 1289, 1294 (¶19) (Ct.App.Miss. 2000).

We respectfully point out the testimony and evidence assailed "here and now" was not so

obviously egregious and prejudicial "then and there." There was no contemporaneous objection at trial to any of the testimony and evidence complained about on appeal.

These observations, standing alone, are fatal to Conners's complaints raised here for the first time on appeal. In short, any error was waived when Conners failed to object during trial or move to suppress prior to trial. Accordingly, Conners has "forfeited" his right to raise these claims on appeal. *See* **United States v. Dodson**, 288 F.3d 153 (5th Cir. 2002), reh denied, cert denied 123 S.Ct. 32 [Forfeiture is the failure to make the timely assertion of a right, generally by failure to object to an error in the proceedings.]

It is elementary that a contemporaneous objection is required in order to preserve an error for appellate review. **Caston v. State, 823** So.2d 473 (Miss. 2002), reh denied; **Logan v. State,** 773 So.2d 338 (Miss. 2000); **Florence v. State,** 755 So.2d 1065 (Miss. 2000); **Jackson v. State,** 766 So.2d 795 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000); **Goree v. State,** 750 So.2d 1260 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999).

Otherwise the error, if any at all, is waived for appeal purposes. **Caston v. State**, *supra*, 823 So.2d 473 (Miss. 2002), reh denied.

Stated differently, "[t]he failure to object at trial acts as a procedural bar in an appeal." White v. State, 964 So.2d 1181, 1185 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007), citing Jackson v. State, 832 So.2d at 579, 581(¶3) (Ct.App. Miss. 2002), citing Carr v. State, 655 So.2d 824, 853 (Miss. 1995).

A defendant is **not** entitled to raise new issues on appeal that he has not first presented to the trial court for consideration. **Hodgin v. State**, 964 So.2d 492 (Miss. 2007). This rule is not diminished in a capital case. **Flowers v. State**, 947 So.2d 910 (Miss. 2007). Moreover, it also applies to constitutional questions. **Williams v. State**, 971 So.2d 581 (Miss. 2007) ["As a general rule, constitutional questions not asserted at the trial level are deemed waived."] *See also* **Ross v.**

11

State, 954 So.2d 968, 987-88, 1015 (Miss. 2007); Rogers v. State, 928 So.2d 831, 834 (Miss. 2006).

In **Gonzales v. State**, 963 So.2d 1138, 1144 (Miss. 2007), the Supreme Court reaffirmed the rule with the following rhetoric:

Where an argument has never been raised before the trial court, we repeatedly have held that 'a trial judge will not be found in error on a matter not presented to the trial court for a decision.' *Purvis v. Barnes*, 791 So.2d 199, 203 (Miss. 2001).

The contemporaneous objection rule has been applied to speedy trial violations, discovery violations, *Batson* violations, in-court identifications, admission of wrongfully obtained evidence, trial *in absentia*, and the like. *See* Miller v. State, 956 So.2d 221 (Miss. 2007) [speedy trial]; Jackson v. State, 962 So.2d 649 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007), reh den, cert den [discovery]; Flowers v. State, 947 So.2d 910 (Miss. 2007) and Roles v. State, 952 So.2d 1043 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007) [*Batson*]; Black v. State, 949 So.2d 105 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007) [in-court identifications]; Gonzales v. State, *supra*, 963 So.2d 1138 (Miss. 2007)[wrongfully obtained evidence]; Mallard v. State, 798 So.2d 539 (Miss. 2001) [trial *in absentia*].

The contemporaneous objection rule is in place in order to enable the trial judge to correct error with proper instructions to the jury whenever possible. **Slaughter v. State, 815** So.2d 1122 (Miss. 2002), reh denied.

A trial court cannot be put in error unless it had an opportunity to first pass on the question. **Palm v. State,** 748 So.2d 135 (Miss. 1999); **Fulgham v. State,** 770 So.2d 1021 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000). *See also* **Mallard v. State,** *supra*, 798 So.2d 539, 542 (Miss. 2001), where this Court held that Mallard's complaint that she was tried in her absence was waived, for the purposes of appeal, since she failed to object to her trial *in absentia*.

Miss.Code Ann. § 99-35-143 is precisely in point. It reads, in its pertinent parts, that

[a] judgment in a criminal case shall not be reversed because the transcript of the record does not show a proper organization of the court below or of the grand jury, or where the court was held, or that the prisoner was present in court during the trial or any part of it, or that the court asked him if he had anything to say why judgment should not be pronounced against him upon the verdict, or because of any error or omission in the case in the court below, except where the errors or omission are jurisdictional in their character, unless the record show that the errors complained of were made ground of special exception in that court. [emphasis added]

The underlying bases for the existence of a contemporaneous objection rule are

contained in Oates v. State, 421 So.2d 1025, 1030 (Miss. 1982), where we find the following:

There are three basic considerations which underlie the rule requiring specific objections. It avoids costly new trials. Boring v. State, 253 So.2d 251 (Miss. 1971). It allows the offering party an opportunity to obviate the objection. Heard v. State, 59 Miss. 545 (Miss. 1882). Lastly, a trial court is not put in error unless it had an opportunity to pass on the question. Boutwell v. State, 165 Miss. 16, 143 So. 479 (1932). These rules apply with equal force in the instant case; accordingly, we hold that appellant did not properly preserve the question for appellate review.

In Leverett v. State, 197 So.2d 889, 890 (Miss. 1967), this Court, quoting from

Collins v. State, 173 Miss. 179, 180, 159 So. 865 (1935), penned the following language:

The Supreme Court is a court of appeals, it has no original jurisdiction; it can only try questions that have been tried and passed upon by the court from which the appeal is taken. Whatever remedy appellant has is in the trial court, not in this court. This court can only pass on the question after the trial court has done so.

In Sumner v. State, 316 So.2d 926, 927 (Miss. 1975), we find the following language

concerning the time for making an objection:

The rule governing the time of objection to evidence is that it must be made as soon as it appears that the evidence is objectionable, or as soon as it could reasonably have been known to the objecting party, unless some special reason makes a postponement desirable for him which is not unfair to the proponent of the evidence. *Williams v. State*, 171 Miss. 324, 157 So. 717 (1934) and cases cited therein. See also cases in Mississippi Digest under Criminal Law at 693.

We reiterate. "A trial judge will not be found in error on a matter not presented to him for decision." **Ballenger v. State**, 667 So.2d 1242, 1256 (Miss. 1995) citing numerous cases. *See also* **McLendon v. State**, 945 So.2d 372 (Miss. 2006), reh den, cert den; **Howard v. State**, 945 So.2d 326 (Miss. 2006), reh den, cert den. "[The Supreme Court] cannot find that a trial judge committed reversible error on a matter not brought before him to consider."

Montgomery v. State, 891 So.2d 179, 187 (Miss. 2004) reh den.

No egregious violation of a fundamental or substantial right is involved here, and the procedural bar/waiver/forfeiture rule is applicable to James Richard Conners, Jr.

Plain Error.

Connors argues that because these matters were not objected to he must proceed under the doctrine of plain error.

Miss.R.Evid. 103 (d) reads as follows: "Nothing in this rule precludes taking notice of plain errors affecting substantial rights although they were not brought to the attention of the court."

We continue to adhere to our view that "plain error" is something for a reviewing court to notice and not a crutch or talisman for an appellant, in the pinch, to argue. In our opinion, excessive application of the plain error doctrine eviscerates the heart of the contemporaneous objection rule.

In any event, the plain error doctrine is inapplicable here because in order to find

"plain" error there must be actual "error."

"The plain error doctrine requires that there be an actual error and the error must have resulted in a manifest miscarriage of justice." Williams v. State, 794 So.2d 181, 187 (Miss. 2001).

In McGee v. State, 953 So.2d 211, 215 (Miss. 2007), we find the following language dispositive of any "plain error" argument:

* * * However, if there is a finding of plain error, a reviewing court may consider the issue regardless of the procedural bar. A review under the plain error doctrine is necessary when a party's fundamental rights are affected, and the error results in a manifest miscarriage of justice. *Williams v. State*, 794 So.2d 181, 187-88 (Miss. 2001). To determine if plain error has occurred, we must determine "if the trial court has deviated from a legal rule, whether that error is plain, clear or obvious, and whether the error has prejudiced the outcome of the trial." Cox v. State, 793 So.2d 591, 597 (Miss. 2001) (relying on Grubb v. State, 584 So.2d 786, 789 (Miss. 1991);,Porter v. State, 749 So.2d 250, 260- 61 (Miss.Ct.App. 1999).

See also United States v. Seale, 600 F.3d 473 (5thCir. 2010) certiorari denied 131 S.Ct. 163,

178 L.Ed.2d 97.

The Supreme Court applies the "plain error" rule "... only when it affects a

defendant's substantial/fundamental rights." Williams v. State, supra, 794 So.2d at 187.

None of this criteria is found to exist in the case at bar.

First, Judge Taylor did not deviate from a legal rule. In the absence of a motion to

suppress or contemporaneous objection, the trial judge never had the opportunity to rule on

the matters identified here. Thus, there is no error, plain or otherwise, to review.

Second, even if there is the spectre of error affecting a substantial right, it is neither

"plain" nor "clear" nor "obvious." Accordingly, admission of the testimony and evidence

targeted here did not prejudice the outcome of the trial where, as here, evidence of Conners's guilt was overwhelming. In other words, any error did not result in a "manifest miscarriage of justice."

Harmless Error.

Assuming, arguendo, there is "plain error," it was clearly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the evidence preponderates very heavily in favor of the guilty verdict, and any error could not have contributed one whit to the defendant's conviction. *See* **Chapman v. California**, *supra*, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct.824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967), reh den 17 L.Ed.2d 705.

Specifically, admission into evidence of the ballistics and toxicology reports was, at best, harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the conclusions reached in these reports introduced through Detective Haygood were just as consistent with Conners's innocence as they were for his guilt. More likely than not, they were not objected to on this basis alone.

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